
 
 

Cyngor 
 
Rydych dan wŷs trwy hyn i ddod i gyfarfod Cyngor Dinas a Sir i'w gynnal yn O bell 
drwy Microsoft Teams ar Dydd Gwener, 26 Mawrth 2021 am 12.30 pm. 
 
Gwylio ar-lein: http://bit.ly/3bVk4j8 
 
Cynigir trafod y materion canlynol: 
   
1.   Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.  
 
2.   Datgeliadau o fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnol.  

 www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau  
 
3.   Cyhoeddiadau'r Aelod Llywyddol.  
 
4.   Cyhoeddiadau Arweinydd y Cyngor.  
 
5.   Cwestiynau gan y Cyhoedd.  

 Rhaid i'r cwestiynau ymwneud â materion ar ran agored agenda'r 
cyfarfod, ac ymdrinnir â hwy o fewn 10 munud. 

 

 
6.   Datganiad Polisi Tâl 2021/22 1 - 18 
 
 
Gweddarlledu: Gellir ffilmio’r cyfarfod hwn i’w ddarlledu’n fyw neu’n ddiweddarach 
drwy wefan y cyngor. Drwy gymryd rhan, rydych yn cytuno i gael eich ffilmio ac i’r 
delweddau a’r recordiadau sain hynny gael eu defnyddio at ddibenion gweddarlledu 
a/neu hyfforddiant o bosib. 
 
Mae croeso i chi siarad Cymraeg yn y cyfarfod. 
Dywedwch wrthym erbyn canol dydd, ddeuddydd cyn y cyfarfod. 
 

Cyfarfod nesaf: Dydd Iau, 20 Mai 2021 ar 4.00 pm 

 
Huw Evans 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd   
Neuadd y Ddinas, 
Abertawe. 
 
Dydd Iau, 18 Mawrth 2021 
 
I: Bob Aelod o’r Cyngor 
 

http://bit.ly/3bVk4j8
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau


 

 

 
 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Delivery and Operations  
 

Extraordinary Council – 26 March 2021 

 
Pay Policy Statement 2021-22 

. 

Purpose: 
 

To approve the Pay Policy Statement 2021-
2022. 
 

Policy Framework: 
 

None. 
 

Consultation: 
 

Human Resources, Legal, Finance and Access 
to Services. 
 

Recommendation: It is recommended that: 
 

1) The Pay Policy Statement 2021-2022 as attached at Appendix A of the 
report be approved and published. 

  
Report Author: Adrian Chard 

 
Finance Officer: Ben Smith 

 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith 

 
Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council has 

'the power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions 
as the Authority thinks fit' subject to its obligations under the Localism Act 
2011. This Pay Policy statement sets out the Council's approach to Pay 
Policy in accordance with the requirements of sections 38 to 43 of the 
Localism Act 2011 which requires English and Welsh Local Authorities to 
produce and publish a Pay Policy Statement for each financial year, 
detailing: 

 

 The Authority's policies relating to seven matters concerning the 
remuneration of Chief Officers including the publication of and access to 
information relating to all aspects of their remuneration  

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6.



 

 

 The Authority's policies towards the remuneration of its lowest 
paid employees (including the definition adopted and reasons for 
it); 

 

 The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers 
and other employees. 

 
1.2 The new annual Pay Policy is attached at Appendix A. 
 
2. Content of the Pay Policy Statement 
 
2.1 The Pay Policy Statement outlines the Council’s implementation of: 

 The broad principles of the pay strategy which include: 
 - Transparency, accountability and value for money 
 - Pay and Reward Strategy 
 - NJC Pay Structure 
 - The national pay grades - Soulbury committee 
 - Job evaluation 
 - National minimum wage/national living wage/living wage 
 - Market Supplements & Honorariums 
 - Pay and Performance 
 - Exit Cap and recovery provisions 

 Chief Officer Pay 

 Teachers' Pay 

 Publication 

 Pay relativities within the Authority 

 Independent Remuneration Panel 

 Accountability and Decision Making 

 Re-employment 
 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 The costs arising from the Council’s Pay Policy Statement are reflected in 

the 2021/2022 Budget 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 Under s 39(1) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council is required to approve 

its Pay Policy Statement by 31 March each year. 
 
5. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
5.1 The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and 

must, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

Page 2



 

 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

Our Equality Impact Assessment process ensures that we have paid due 
regard to the above. 

 
5.2 The Pay Policy Statement for 2021/22 has taken all necessary steps to 

assure the Council that we meet the required standard. 
 
5.3 An EIA screening has been undertaken and the assessment indicated 

that there was a low impact on the workforce (Appendix B). 
 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - Draft Pay Policy Statement 2021/22. 
Appendix B - Equality Impact Assessment Screening. 
 
 
 

 

Page 3



PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2021/22 
Table of Contents 

1. Policy Statement ................................................................................................................. 2 

2. Legislative Framework ...................................................................................................... 3 

3. Policy Scope ........................................................................................................................ 3 

4. Principles of the Pay Strategy ......................................................................................... 3 

4.1 Transparency, accountability and value for money ................................................. 3 

4.2 Development of Pay and Reward Strategy .............................................................. 4 

4.3 NJC Pay Structure ................................................................................................... 5 

4.4 National Pay Grades - Soulbury Committee ........................................................... 5 

4.5 Job Evaluation ......................................................................................................... 5 

4.6 National Minimum Wage/National Living Wage/Living Wage ............................. 6 

4.7 Market Supplements ................................................................................................ 6 

4.8 Honorarium Payments ............................................................................................. 6 

4.9 Pay and Performance ............................................................................................... 7 

4.10 Exit Cap and Recovery Provisions .......................................................................... 7 

5. Chief Officer Pay ................................................................................................................. 7 

5.1 Definitions of Chief Officer & Pay Levels .............................................................. 7 

5.2 Chief Officer Job Evaluation ................................................................................... 8 

5.3 Recruitment of Chief Officers ................................................................................. 8 

5.4 Additions to salary of Chief Officers ...................................................................... 8 

5.5 Pay Increases - Chief Officers ................................................................................. 9 

5.6 Payments on Termination ........................................................................................ 9 

6. Teachers Pay ..................................................................................................................... 10 

7. Publication .......................................................................................................................... 10 

8. Pay relativities across the authority ............................................................................ 11 

9. Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales ............................................................ 11 

10. Accountability and decision making ........................................................................... 12 

11. Re-employment procedures .......................................................................................... 12 

12. Monitoring and review ..................................................................................................... 12 

App
Appendix A

Page 4



ANNEX A: NJC Pay Scale and Swansea Implementation April 2020/21 

ANNEX B: Chief Officers Pay 2020/21 .............................. 
ANNEX C Soulbury 2020/21 .............................................. 

1. Policy Statement

1.1  Under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council has 
‘the  power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and 
conditions as the Authority thinks fit’ subject to its obligations under 
the Localism Act 2011. This Pay Policy statement sets out the 
Council’s approach to Pay Policy in accordance with the requirements of 
sections 38 to 43 of the Localism Act 2011 which requires English and 
Welsh Local Authorities to produce and publish a Pay Policy 
Statement for each financial year, detailing: 

a) The Authority’s Policies relating to seven matters concerning the
remuneration of Chief Officers, as defined under the Localism Act
2011, including  the publication of and access to information
relating to all aspects of their remuneration

b) The Authority’s Policies towards the remuneration of its lowest
paid employees (including the definition adopted and reasons for
it)

c) The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers
and other employees.

1.2 Local Authorities are large complex organisations with multi-million 
pound budgets. They have a very wide range of functions and provide 
and/or commission a wide range of essential services. The general 
approach to remuneration levels may therefore differ from one group of 
employees to another to reflect specific circumstances at a local, Welsh  or 
UK national level. It will also need to be flexible when required to address 
a variety of changing circumstances whether foreseeable or not. 

1.3  The global economic crisis and the reduction in budgets during the 
current Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) period has 
necessitated councils going through unprecedented and painful cuts in 
jobs and services in response.  This process has avoided some of the 
potential financial difficulties for councils but has been essentially  reactive, 
and will require ongoing strategic review going forward. 

1.4 As required by legislation, full Council approved the Pay Policy in 2012 
and this policy statement came into immediate effect. The Policy is 
subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis in accordance with 
the relevant legislation. 

Appendix A

Page 5



2. Legislative Framework 
 

2.1  In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the 
 Council will comply with all relevant employment legislation. This  includes 
 the: 

 
a) Equality Act 2010 
b) Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable  

Treatment) Regulations 2000 and the Fixed-term 
Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) 
Regulations 2002 

c) Working Time Regulations 1998 
d) Agency Workers Regulations 2010 and where relevant, the 
e) Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of  Employment) Regulations 2006 

 
 
 
 
 

3. Policy Scope 

 
3.1 The Localism Act 2011 required Authorities to develop and make public 
 their  Pay Policy on all aspects of Chief Officer Remuneration (including 
 on ceasing  to hold office), and that pertaining to the ‘lowest paid’ in the 
 Authority, explaining their Policy on the relationship between 
 remuneration for Chief Officers and other groups. However, in the  interests 
 of transparency and accountability the Council has  chosen to take a 
 broader approach and produce a Policy covering  all employee groups 
 with the exception of School Teachers (as the remuneration for this 
 latter group is set by the Secretary of State and therefore not in Local 
 Authority control). 

 
3.2 Nothing within the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 detract from the 
 Council’s autonomy in making decisions on pay that are appropriate to 
 local  circumstances and which deliver value for money for local 
 taxpayers. However, this Policy will be complied with in setting 
 remuneration levels for all groups within its scope. 

 

4. Principles of the Pay Strategy 

 
4.1 Transparency, accountability and value for money  
 
4.1.1 The Council is committed to an open and transparent approach to pay policy 

which will enable the tax payer to access, understand and assess information 
on remuneration levels across all groups of council employees. To this end 
the following are provided as Appendices to this policy:- 

Appendix A

Page 6



 
i) Swansea Council’s Employee Pay Scales, Local Government 

Services Employees (Annex A) 
ii) Swansea Council’s Chief Officer Pay Scales (Annex B) 
iii) National Pay Grades - Soulbury (Annex C) 
iv) JNC Chief Officer Terms and Conditions (available upon request 

from Human Resources) 
v) JNC Chief Officer Employment Rules (as per Council 

Constitution) 
(http://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/documents/s31874/CouncilCo
ns titutionNovember2016.pdf 

iii) Policy on Redundancy and Severance Payments 
http://www.swansea.gov.uk/redundancyandredeploym
ent 

 
4.2 Development of Pay and Reward Strategy  
 
4.2.1 The primary aim of a reward strategy is to attract, retain and motivate suitably 

skilled staff so that the Authority can perform at its best. The biggest 
challenge for the Council in the current circumstances is to maximise 
productivity and efficiency within current resources. Pay Policy then is a 
matter of striking a sometimes difficult balance between setting 
remuneration levels at appropriate levels to facilitate a sufficient supply of 
appropriately skilled individuals to fill the Authority’s very wide range of 
posts, and ensuring that the burden on the taxpayer does not become 
greater than can be fully and objectively justified. 

 
4.2.2 In this context it does need to be recognised that at the more senior grades 

in particular remuneration levels need to enable the attraction of a suitably 
wide pool of talent (which will ideally include people from the private as well 
as public sector and from outside as well as within Wales), and the retention 
of suitably skilled and qualified individuals once in post. It must be 
recognised that the Council will often be seeking to recruit in competition 
with other good public and private sector employers. 

 
4.2.3 In addition, the Council is the major employer in the area. As such we must 

have regard to our role in improving the economic well-being of the people 
of the City & County. The availability of good quality employment on 
reasonable terms and conditions and fair rates of pay has a beneficial impact 
on the quality of life in the community as well as on the local economy. The 
Council also has a role in setting a benchmark example on pay and 
conditions to other employers in the area for the same reasons. 

 
4.2.4 In designing, developing and reviewing its Pay and Reward Strategy, the 

Council will seek to balance these factors appropriately to maximise 
outcomes for the organisation and the community it serves, while managing 
pay costs appropriately and maintaining sufficient flexibility to meet future 
needs. This Pay Policy will be reviewed on an annual basis in line with our 
strategy for pay and approved annually by the Full Council. 

 

Appendix A

Page 7

http://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/documents/s31874/CouncilConstitutionNovember2016.pdf
http://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/documents/s31874/CouncilConstitutionNovember2016.pdf
http://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/documents/s31874/CouncilConstitutionNovember2016.pdf


4.3 NJC Pay Structure  
 

4.3.1 The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine as the basis for its 
grading structure. This determines the salaries of the larger majority of the 
non-teaching workforce, together with the use of other nationally defined 
rates where relevant. 

 
4.3.2 Pay rates for the period 1st April 2021 to March 31st 2022 are currently the 

subject of negotiation nationally and will be communicated once they are 
agreed.   

 
4.3.3 All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 

negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance 
with collective bargaining machinery and/or as determined by Council Policy.  

 
4.3.4 New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant 

grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the best 
candidate. 

 
4.3.5 All future pay nationally negotiated pay increases for NJC staff will follow the 

same process as for Chief Officers; see Paragraph 5.5.1 below. The 
Authority will therefore pay future pay rises as and when determined in 
accordance with contractual requirements. 

 

4.4  National Pay Grades - Soulbury Committee  
 

4.4.1 The Soulbury Committee has its own pay scales and includes the  following 
 groups of staff:- 

 
i) Educational Inspectors and Advisers 
ii) Educational Psychologists 
iii) Youth and Community Service Officers 

 
4.4.2 In addition to the annual pay increase, the Soulbury Committee determines 

the national salary framework. On other conditions of service issues, the 
Soulbury agreement ensures that Soulbury officers have conditions which 
are not less favourable than other local government staff employed in the 
authority they work in. 

 
4.4.3 All future pay nationally negotiated pay increases for Soulbury staff will follow 

the same process as for Chief Officers; see Paragraph 5.5.1 below. The 
Authority will therefore pay future pay rises as and when determined in 
accordance with contractual requirements. 

 
4.4.4 The current pay rates for this group of staff are attached at Annex C.  

 
 
4.5 Job Evaluation  

 
4.5.1. Job evaluation is a systematic way of determining the value/worth of a job in 

Appendix A

Page 8



relation to other jobs within an organisation. It aims to make a systematic 
comparison between jobs to assess their relative worth for the purpose of 
establishing a rational pay structure and pay equity between jobs. 

 
4.5.2. The Council implemented Single Status for all staff in terms of Pay & Grading 

and Terms & Conditions on 1st April 2014. The concept of equality was central 
to this work and our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) process has been 
utilised throughout. It has already informed the Council’s negotiating position 
in relation to a number of Terms and Conditions. The Council engaged 
Northgate to assist us to carry out an EIA in respect of our new pay model. 

 
4.6 National Minimum Wage/National Living Wage/Living Wage  

 

4.6.1 As part of the NJC National Pay Negotiations for 2018/2019 and 
 2019/2020, there was agreement to revise the NJC National  Pay Spine to 
 take account of the National Living Wage.  

4.6.2 Future revised Living Wage rates will be included for consideration and 
 implementation in line with the nationally agreed pay award.  

4.6.3 The current NJC pay scales and how they are implemented to the current 
 Swansea Council Pay Structure is included in ANNEX A. 

 
4.7 Market Supplements  

 
4.7.1 Job evaluation has enabled the Council to set appropriate remuneration 

levels based on internal job size relativities within the council.  However, from 
time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay market 
in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills and 
capacity. 

 
4.7.2 It is the Council’s policy that any such additional payments be kept to a 

minimum and be reviewed on a regular basis so that they can be withdrawn 
where no longer considered necessary, as set out in the Market Supplement 
Procedure. 
 

4.7.3 Where there are specialist technical roles required within a service, and the 
recruitment process has failed to deliver appropriately qualified suitable 
candidates for the role on offer, the Head of Service will submit a full business 
case for the additional market supplement payment, based on current labour 
market research for these required skills, to Corporate Management Team. 

 
4.7.4 2019/20 budget proposals identified savings of 50% of market supplement 

payments. The review of the Market Supplement Policy deemed that the 
information was duplicated within the Pay Policy Statement, and therefore 
was replaced with Procedure and Guidance. 

 
4.8 Honorarium Payments  

 

Appendix A

Page 9



4.8.1 The Council recognises that it may be necessary from time to time to apply 
an additional payment when an employee is requested to 'act up' into a 
higher graded post or temporarily undertake additional duties associated with 
a higher graded post. 

   
4.8.2 In these circumstances, honoraria payments may be made and the 

Honoraria Procedure seeks to ensure that honoraria payments are 
transparent, properly considered, subject to proper review and implemented 
on a consistent basis. 

 
4.8.3 2019/20 budget proposals identified savings of 50% of honoraria payments 

and resulted in a review of the policy.  The review deemed that the 
information was duplicated in the Pay Policy Statement, and therefore was 
replaced with Procedure and Guidance. 

 
4.9 Pay and Performance  

 
4.9.1 The Council expects high levels of performance from all employees and has 

a performance review process in place to monitor, evaluate and manage 
performance on an ongoing basis. 

 
4.9.2 For Chief Officers, the annual increment (if not already at top of scale) is only 

awarded once the Performance Review has been deemed to be satisfactory. 
 

4.10 Revocation of Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 
2020 

 
4.10.1 On 12th February 2021 the UK Government announced its decision to revoke 

the above Regulations in full and has disapplied the key Regulations until this 
can be done by the UK Parliament. 

 
4.10.2 This means that the cap has been removed in both England and Wales, and 

there is no current  requirement for public bodies to request waivers for exit 
payments over £95,000. 
 

4.10.3 The Strategic HR&OD Manager will ensure that if there are further  decisions 
made regarding this matter, the appropriate actions will be taken to ensure 
compliance. 

 
 

5. Chief Officer Pay 
 
5.1 Definitions of Chief Officer & Pay Levels  
 
5.1.1 For the purposes of this statement, ‘Chief Officers’ are as defined within S43 

of the Localism Act. The posts falling within the statutory definition of S43 of 
the Localism Act are set out below: (details of the salary of each are included 
at Annex C). 

Appendix A

Page 10



 
a) Chief Executive 
b) Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Resources 
c) Corporate Directors 
d) Chief Officers 
e) Heads of Service 

 
5.1.2 No bonus or performance related pay mechanism is applicable to Chief 

Officers’ pay; although the annual increment (if not already at top of scale) is 
only awarded once the Annual Performance Review has been deemed as 
satisfactory. The Chief Executive is on a spot salary, with no incremental 
progression. 

5.1.3 In respect of the nationally agreed JNC Pay Award for the Chief Executive’s 
salary, half is afforded automatically with the other half subject to the 
performance rating at the Annual Performance Review. The current Chief 
Executive is on a spot salary with no incremental progression. 

 
5.2 Chief Officer Job Evaluation 

  
5.2.1 Director and Head of Service level posts were job evaluated in 2009 
 using the GLPC Job Evaluation Scheme for Chief Officers in Local 
 Government (1993). The Scheme was revised in 2016 and is the one 
 currently in use.  

 
5.3  Recruitment of Chief Officers 

  
5.3.1 The Council’s Policy and Procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief 
 Officers is contained within the Officer Employment Procedure Rules as 
 set out in Part 4 of the Constitution. The determination of the 
 remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed Chief Officer will be in 
 accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at 
 the time of recruitment. 
5.3.2 There is a requirement under the Welsh Government Regulations that all 
 vacant posts with a salary of over £100,000 are publicly advertised. 
 The only exception to this new rule is where the appointment is for 12 
 months or less.  It  is also possible to divide up the duties from one 
 deleted Chief Officer posts between other existing post holders. 

5.3.3 Where the Council remains unable to recruit Chief Officers under a contract 
of service, or there is a need for interim support to provide cover for a vacant 
substantive Chief Officer post, the Council will, where necessary, consider  
and utilise engaging individuals under ‘contracts for service’. These will be 
sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring the Council is able 
to demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from competition in 
securing the relevant service. The Council does not currently have any Chief 
Officers engaged under such arrangements. 
 

5.4 Additions to salary of Chief Officers  
 

Appendix A

Page 11



5.4.1. The Council does not apply any bonuses or performance related pay to its 
Chief Officers. However, the annual increment (if not already at top of scale) 
is only awarded once the annual Review has been deemed as satisfactory. 

 
5.4.2 The Council does pay all reasonable travel and subsistence expenses on 

production of receipts and in accordance with JNC conditions and other local 
conditions. 

 
5.4.3. The cost of membership of one-half of a professional body is met by the 

Authority if it is deemed an essential requirement of the post. 
 
5.4.4. The Chief Executive’s salary and Job Description include his role as 

Returning Officer for Local Government Elections. All other Elections and 
referenda are not included and are covered by the JNC Terms and 
Conditions of Employment. 

 

5.5 Pay Increases - Chief Officers  
 
5.5.1 The Council employs Chief Officers under JNC terms and conditions, which 

are incorporated in their contracts. The JNC for Chief Officers negotiates on 
national (UK) annual cost of living pay increases for this group, and any 
award of same is determined on this basis. Chief Officers employed under 
JNC terms and conditions are contractually entitled to any national JNC 
determined pay rises and this Council will therefore pay these as and when 
determined in accordance with current contractual requirements. 

  
5.5.2 Pay rates for the period 1st April 2021 to March 31st 2022 are currently the 

subject of negotiation nationally and will be communicated once they are 
agreed.  The current Pay Scale is attached at Annex B.  

 
5.6 Payments on Termination 
  
5.6.1 The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on 
 termination  of employment of Chief Officers (and all other employees), 
 prior to reaching  normal retirement age, is set out within its Early 
 Retirement & Redundancy Policy in accordance with Regulations  5 and 6 
 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
 (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006. This is in respect of a 
 redundancy payment being based on actual weekly earnings      
 (Regulation 5) and when an enhanced  redundancy payment of up to 
 45 weeks’ pay would be granted (Regulation 6). Regulations 12 and 
 13 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership 
 and Contribution)  Regulations 2007 do not apply as the Authority does not 
 increase the total membership of active members (Regulation 12) or award 
 additional pension  (Regulation 13). 
 
5.6.2 Any other payments falling outside the provisions or the relevant periods of 

 contractual notice shall be subject to a formal decision made by the Chief 
 Executive and Leader of the Council or relevant Elected Members, 

Appendix A

Page 12



Committee  or Panel of Elected Members with delegated authority to 
approve such payments. 
 

5.6.3 The Authority will comply with the Welsh Government’s guidance that full 
Council should be given the opportunity to vote before large severance 
packages beyond a particular threshold are approved for staff leaving the 
organisation. The guidance states that “as with salaries on appointment, the 
Welsh Ministers consider £100,000 is the right level for that threshold to be 
set. Members must be made aware of any statutory or contractual 
entitlements due to the employee and the consequences of a non-approval 
by Council, in which failure to fulfil the statutory or contractual obligations 
may enable the employee to claim damages for breach of contract”. 

 
5.6.4 When calculating the value of a severance package, the following payments 

should include the following items:- 
 

a) salary paid in lieu 
b) lump sum redundancy/severance payment 
c) cost to the Authority of the strain on the pension fund arising from 

providing early access to an unreduced pension 
 

6. Teachers Pay  
 
6.1 The Teachers Pay Policy provides a framework for making decisions on 
 Teachers’ pay. It has been developed to comply with the requirements of 
 the School Teachers’ Pay and Conditions Document (STPCD) and has been 
 the subject of consultation with ASCL, ATL, NAHT, NASUWT, NUT AND 
 UCAC.  
 
6.2 A Policy is provided to all schools each year within the Authority with a 
 recommendation that the Governing Body adopt it. A copy of the Policy  is 
 available on request. 
 
 

7. Publication 
 

7.1  Upon approval by the full Council, this statement will be published on 
 the  Council’s Website. In addition, for posts where the full time 
 equivalent salary is at least £60,000, as required under the  Accounts 
 and Audit (Wales)  (Amendment) Regulations 2010, the Council’s  Annual 
 Statement of Accounts will include a note setting out the total amount 
 of: 

 
• salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable by the person in the 

current and previous year; 
• any bonuses so paid or receivable by the person in the current and 

Appendix A

Page 13



previous year; 
• any sums payable by way of expenses allowance that are chargeable 

to UK income tax; 
• any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments 

connected with termination; 
• any benefits received that do not fall within the above 

 

8. Pay relativities across the authority 
 
8.1 The “lowest paid employees” under a Contract of Employment are defined 

as those employed on a full time [37 hours] equivalent salary in accordance 
with the minimum spinal column point currently in use within the Council’s 
grading structure. The Council employs Apprentices [and other such 
Trainees] who are not included within the definition of ‘lowest paid 
employees’ as they are not employed under Contracts of Employment. 

 
8.2 The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and Chief 

Officers is determined by the processes used for determining pay and 
grading structures as set out earlier in this Policy Statement. 

 
8.3 The statutory guidance under the Localism Act recommends the use of pay 

multiples as a means of measuring the relationship between pay rates across 
the workforce and that of senior managers, as included within the Hutton 
‘Review of Fair Pay in the Public Sector’ (2010). The Hutton Report was 
asked by Government to explore the case for a fixed limit on dispersion of 
pay through a requirement that no public sector manager can earn more than 
20 times the lowest paid person in the organisation. The report concluded 
that the relationship to median earnings was a more relevant measure and 
the Government’s Code of Recommended Practice on Data Transparency 
recommends the publication of the ratio between highest paid salary and the 
median average salary of the whole of the Authority’s workforce. 

 
8.4 The current pay levels within the Council define the multiple between the 

lowest paid (full time equivalent) employee and the Chief Executive as 1.10 
and between the lowest paid employee and average Chief Officer as 1:5. 

 
8.5 The multiple between the median (average) full time equivalent earnings and 

the Chief Executive is 1:5 and between the median (average) full time 
equivalent earnings and average Chief Officer is 1:3. 

 
8.6 As part of its overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay 

markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available 
benchmark information as appropriate. 
 

9. Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
 

Appendix A

Page 14



9.1 This is in respect of the salary of the Head of Paid Service/Chief Executive 
and Chief Officers whereby Authorities will pay due regard to any 
recommendation received from the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) 
when performing its functions under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
9.2 A referral was made to the IRP in 2018 due the senior management 

restructure.  It was determined by the panel that the panel approved the 
proposal to increase the salary of the Chief Legal Officer and determined 
that the other proposals for new posts were outside of their remit. 

 
9.3 A further referral was made in February 2019 due to the interim appointment 

of Head of Paid Service/Chief Executive and it was determined by the panel 
to approve the proposal.  

10. Accountability and decision making 
 
10.1 In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Cabinet is responsible 

for decision making in relation to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions 
and severance arrangements in relation to employees of the Council. 

 

11. Re-employment procedures 
 
11.1 No Chief Officer who was previously made redundant or granted early 

 retirement from the Council will be later re-employed or re-engaged 
 either as an employee (Contract of Service), as a Consultant 
 (Contract for Service) or through an external contractor commissioned to 
 work on behalf of the Council save for in exceptional circumstances 
 when a meeting of Council may waive this requirement.” 

 
11.2 The Authority will inform Chief Officers on appointment who are in  receipt 

 of a pension under the LGPS from a previous employer that they must inform 
 their Pension Fund Provider of their re-employment in Local Government. 
 The appropriate abatement rules can then be applied. 

 

12. Monitoring and review  
 

12.1 The Policy outlines the current position in respect of pay and reward 
 across the Council and it will continue to be monitored over the next year  to 
 ensure that it meets the principles of fairness, equality, accountability 
 and value for money for citizens of Swansea.  

 
 

Appendix A

Page 15



 
 
 

Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form  
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing 
this form. If you would like further guidance please contact the Access to 
Services team (see guidance for details). 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: HR&OD   

Directorate: Resources 
 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 
 

      Service/                Policy/  
      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                            
 
 

 

(b) Please name and describe here: 

Pay Policy Statement 2021-2022 – the statement outlines all of the pay 
frameworks used across the Council and informs on nationally agreed 
pay increases.  It also covers the annual regulatory requirements for 
reporting on Local Government Pay matters. 
 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 
Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 
         
   (H)        (M)  (L) 
 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 
     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 
 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)        (M)    (M)  (L) 
 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 
        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 
    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 
Children/young people (0-18)      
OIder people (50+)     
Any other age group       
Disability      
Race (including refugees)      
Asylum seekers      
Gypsies & travellers      
Religion or (non-)belief     
Sex     
Sexual Orientation     

APPENDIX B 

Page 16



Gender reassignment      
Welsh Language     
Poverty/social exclusion     
Carers (inc. young carers)     
Community cohesion     
Marriage & civil partnership      
Pregnancy and maternity      
 

Q4 WHAT ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION / CO-PRODUCTIVE 
APPROACHES WILL YOU UNDERTAKE?  

Please provide details below – either of your planned activities or your 
reasons for not undertaking engagement 

 
HR will consult with CMT and Trades Unions on the new NJC pay scale 
implementation when the information is available, but there is no change 
to the main Pay Policy from last year. 
 
 
Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 
    (H)   (M)  (L) 
 
(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? 

(Consider the following impacts – legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception  etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
     (H)         (M)          (L) 

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council 
service?  

 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  

      

 
Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 
 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 followed 
by Section 2  

 
Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for an EIA report, you 

must provide a full explanation here.  Please ensure that you cover all of 
the relevant protected groups.   

Page 17



   
The Pay Policy Statement outlines all of the different pay implementation frameworks 
used across the Council.  There is no change to last year, except where there is 
nationally agreed % pay rise, which will be shown in the appendices as updated pay 
scales. 
The Pay Structure NJC grades 1-12 has already been assessed under the EIA 
framework, and no assessment other than a general screening was required. 

 
Section 2 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement 
before obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is 
only required via email – no electronic signatures or paper copies are needed. 
 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Linda Phillips 

Job title: Workforce and OD Business Partner 

Date: 11 March 2021 
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Adrian Chard 

Position: Strategic Manager HR&OD 

Date: 11 March 2021 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 18

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk

	Agenda
	6. Datganiad Polisi Tâl 2021/22
	PAY POLICY Append A
	1. Policy Statement
	2. Legislative Framework
	3. Policy Scope
	4. Principles of the Pay Strategy
	4.1 Transparency, accountability and value for money
	4.2 Development of Pay and Reward Strategy
	4.3 NJC Pay Structure
	4.4  National Pay Grades - Soulbury Committee
	4.5 Job Evaluation
	4.6 National Minimum Wage/National Living Wage/Living Wage
	4.7 Market Supplements
	4.8 Honorarium Payments
	4.9 Pay and Performance
	4.10 Revocation of Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020

	5. Chief Officer Pay
	5.1 Definitions of Chief Officer & Pay Levels
	5.2 Chief Officer Job Evaluation
	5.3  Recruitment of Chief Officers
	5.4 Additions to salary of Chief Officers
	5.5 Pay Increases - Chief Officers
	5.6 Payments on Termination

	6. Teachers Pay
	7. Publication
	8. Pay relativities across the authority
	9. Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales
	10. Accountability and decision making
	11. Re-employment procedures
	12. Monitoring and review

	Pay Policy EIA




